DEC 11 W85

NOTICE OF VIOLATION

Tulsa Gamma Ray, Incorporated Docket: 30-12319
1127 South Lewis Avenue License: 35-17178-01
Tulsa, Oklahoma 74104

During an NRC inspection conducted on November 1, 1985, violations of

NRC reguirements were identified. In accordance with the "General Statement of
Policy and Procedure for Enforcement Actions," 10 CFR Part 2, Appendix C
(1985), the violations are listed below:

1. 10 CFR 34.33(c) requires that pocket dosimeters shall be checked at
periods not to exceed one year for correct response to radiation.

Contrary to this requirement, records indicated that no calibrations had
been performed on dosimeters 12509, 7080119, 3051402, and 5403B between
November 1, 1984 and November 1, 1985. These dosimeters were used by
licensee personnel during this period.

This a Severity Level IV violation (Supplement VI).

- 10 CFR 34.24 requires, in part, that each radiation survey instrument be
calibrated at intervals not to exceed three months and a record shall be
maintained of the results of each instrument calibration and date thereof
for two years after the date of calibration.

Contrary to this requirement, records were not available for the instrument
designated as #1 for calibration during the period of August 1, 1985 and
November 1, 1985 although it was in current use.

This a Severity Level V violation (Supplement VI).

3, 10 CFR 20.408(b) regquires, in part, that when an individual terminates
employment with a licensee, the licensee shall furnish to the Commission a
report of the individual's exposure to radiation. 10 CFR 20.409(b)
requires that when a report pursuant to 10 CFR 20.408 is
required, the licensee shall also notify the individual. Such notice
shall be transmitted at a time not later than the transmittal to the
Cummission and shall comnly with the provisions of 10 CFR 19.13(a).

Contrary to these requirements, termination reports were not submitted for
two individuals who terminated their employment during the third quarter
of 1985 nor were they sent to the individuals.

This a Severity Level V violation (Supplement IV).
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10 CFR 34.27(c) requires, in part, that the plant or site where licensed
material is used, be included on the utilization log.

Contrary to this requirement, the utilization records of one individual
gave no indication of the location of use during the period January 1985
through August 1985.

This a Severity Level V violation (Supplement VI).

5. 10 CFR 71.5(a) requires, in part, that no licensee shall transport any
licensed material outside the confines of his plant or other place of use,
or delfver any licensed material to a carrier for transport, unless the
licensee complies with applicable requirements of the regulations
appropriate to the mode of transport, of the Department of Tramsportation
in 49 CFR Parts 170-189.

49 CFR 173.25(b) requires, in part, that authorized packages being shipped
in outside containers must have the containers marked with the proper
shipping name and labeled as required by subchapter C of Title 49. The
outside containers must also be marked "INSIDE PACKAGES COMPLY WITH
PRESCRIBED SPECIFICATIONS" when specification packages are used.

Contrary to this requirement, outside containers enclosing DOT
specification Type B packages of radioactive material were not labeled in
accordance with 49 CFR 173.25 in two of the licensee's vehicles on
November 1, 1985.

This a Severity Level V violation (Supplement V).



Pursuant to the provisions of 10 CFR 2.201, Tulsa Gamma Ray,Incorporated is
. hereby required to submit to this office, within 30 days of the date of the
% Tetter transmitting this Notice, a written statement or explanation in reply,
o including for each violation:(1) the reason for the violation if admitted,
(2) the corrective steps which have been taken and the results achieved,(3) The
corrective steps which will be taken tc avoid further violations;(4) The date
when full compliance will be achieved. Where good cause is shown, consideration
will be given to extending the response time,

Oate at Jhdsagern. 7
this //74 day 2L 1985.




